The involvement of the Locus Coeruleus (LC)– noradrenaline (NA) system in sleep regulation and its association with Alzheimer's disease.

Svyat Grishin (S3956563) 06.2023 Supervisors: Ulrich L. M. Eisel & Robert Havekes. GELIFES, University of Groningen



Figure 1. Anatomical diagram showing the location of LC, neuronal projections, and relevant brain structures, superimposed on the MRI scan of the sagittal section of the brain. [Adapted from Sun et al. (2020)]

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
1. Introduction	3
2. Locus coeruleus (LC)-noradrenaline (NA) system: neuroanatomy and function	3
2.1. LC structure and anatomy	3
2.2. Noradrenaline as a neurotransmitter and its role in the central nervous system	4
2.3. Function of the LC-NA system in sleep-wake regulation	5
3. Role of sleep in LC-NA system and Alzheimer's disease	5
3.1. Overview of sleep architecture	6
3.2. How disrupted sleep affects LC-NA and AD	6
4. Neurodegenerative changes in the Locus Coeruleus associated with Alzheimer's disease	7
5. Interplay between Aβ pathology, neuroinflammation, and the LC-NA system	8
5.1. Impact of AD associated pathology on LC-NA system.	8
5.2. Inflammatory processes and their influence on LC-NA system activity	9
5.3. The glymphatic system: How sleep deprivation influences Aβ clearance and the role of astrocytes	9
6. Research methods and techniques for studying the LC-NA system and sleep in AD	10
7. Discussion	10
7.1.1. Sleep as a therapeutic target	10
7.1.2. LC-NA as a therapeutic target	11
7.4. Future research directions and challenges in understanding the LC-NA system's role in AD-related sleep disruption	on 12
References	13
Afterword	23

Abstract

Reported Locus Coeruleus (LC) cell death in Alzheimer's disease (AD) is extensive. However, the connection between LC-NA and AD was largely overlooked in the research. The LC, being the first structure in the brain to express AD associated neuropathology, is sensitive to neurodegenerative processes, suggesting a significant role in early AD development. Disturbances in the LC-NA system, along with sleep impairment, can trigger a cascade of neuroinflammatory processes, leading to chronic low-grade inflammation, blood brain barrier (BBB) disruption, and eventual AD pathogenesis. This is further worsened by the impairment in the glymphatic system - a key pathway for the removal of neurotoxic waste like β amyloid during sleep - due to sleep-wake dysregulation. Generally, sleep disturbances are often exacerbated by LC-NA dysregulation, and are associated with elevated A β or tau levels, thereby intensifying AD pathogenesis.

This review discusses potential therapeutic interventions targeting the LC-NA system, including the enhancement of REM/NREM sleep and drugs like AChE inhibitors and orexin antagonists. Notably, the use of PDE4 inhibitors presents a promising strategy to address both AD and sleep pathologies. Ultimately, investigating the intricate interplay between the LC-NA system, sleep disruption, and neuroinflammatory processes is imperative to deepen the understanding of AD.

1. Introduction

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a multifactorial neurodegenerative disorder generally characterized by a decline in global cognition and progressive memory deterioration [1]. AD has been the leading cause of dementia, and is emerging as one of the most deadly and severe neuropathologies of current age, with the estimated occurrence of worldwide dementia to triple by 2050 [2–4]. AD progresses in stages from mild cognitive impairments (MCI) to advanced dementia, which can take years to develop [5]. Nonetheless, a pre-clinical AD, which is a stage described by the presence of early pathological changes in the brain without noticeable cognitive impairments, is detectable by positron emission tomography (PET) about 15 years prior to the development of cognitive symptoms of AD [5]. It is therefore imperative to identify predictors of AD in the early stages in order to prevent irreversible structural and functional brain damage.

Pathologically, the main features of AD are the accumulation of β -amyloid (A β) plaques and tau neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) in neocortical and subcortical regions of the brain [6]. Derived from amyloid precursor protein (APP) via proteolytic cleavage, A β contributes to aggregation of A β plaque, with variants such as A $\beta_{1.42}$ and A $\beta_{1.43}$, exhibiting higher tendencies of aggregation compared to A $\beta_{1.43}$ [7,8]. Even under healthy ongoing processes, A β is continuously produced, with some A β deposition observed even in cognitively normal individuals [9,10]. However, over time A β protein sheets accumulate to form A β plaques [11], which are detectable in pre-clinical AD stage through imaging and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) analysis [12]. Said A β plaque formation has been associated with synaptic dysfunction, neuronal loss, cognitive impairment, and tau aggregation into intracellular NFTs [13,14].

NFTs are comprised of highly phosphorylated tau proteins [6]. Tau is a microtubule-associated protein (MAP) primarily found in neuronal axons [15], and it plays vital role in supporting microtubule integrity, alongside being involved in synaptic structure and function [16–18]. Under pathological conditions, tau proteins become hyperphosphorylated, causing dissociation from microtubules, ultimately leading to NFT formation [19,20]. Accumulation of NFTs and tau phosphorylation, as shown by correlational PET scans, are closely linked with impairment in neuronal function in AD [6]. These neuropathological hallmarks primarily manifest in the entorhinal cortex and hippocampus, these being regions critical for cognitive function [21].

AD can be classified genetically into two forms: familial and sporadic [22]. Familial form is linked with the specific genetic markers, namely the APP, presenilin (PSEN) 1, and PSEN 2 genes [23]. In particular, the processing of APP is enhanced by PSEN 1 and 2, leading to the formation of toxic forms of A β [24]. The identified mutations in abovementioned genes were shown to contribute to altered A β production in familial AD, which can lead to A β accumulation and the subsequent accumulation of NFTs [25]. Therefore, these findings support the amyloid cascade hypothesis, underlining the importance amyloid pathology and its associated neurotoxic effects in AD [13,25].

Although the mechanisms of A β accumulation and NFT formation in AD provide an insight in understanding the pathology, the existing hypotheses underlying AD development are inconclusive, with precise pathogenic processes remaining unclear. However, sleep disturbance has been a focal subject of the AD pathology for a substantial time and can potentially provide a deeper understanding of AD pathogenesis [26,27].

Categorically, $A\beta$ plaques and NFTs are typically observed in the brain regions such as the locus coeruleus, hypothalamus, and the cortical layers, these being critical for modulation of the sleep wake cycle [28]. In longitudinal meta-analysis studies it has been established that sleep irregularities predict the development of AD-linked dementia [17]. Changes of sleep parameters provided by polysomnography (PSG) studies observed in preclinical AD supports the hypothesis of a bidirectional relation between sleep and AD [29,30]. Remarkably, most of the nuclei responsible for the sleep-wake regulation are affected by the AD neuropathology before the onset of cognitive impairments [31]. Locus coeruleus (LC)-noradrenaline (NA) system is a major part of the crucial sleep-wake circuitry [32], which can provide a novel understanding of the relational link between AD and sleep.

Therefore, this review aims to provide a comprehensive overview of LC-NA system and its significance for AD in the context of sleep-wake regulation. It will attempt to find and relate LC-NA activity to the processes behind A β clearance in order establish the link between LC-NA system and AD pathogenesis. Ultimately, the objective of this review is to synthesize current research and explore the role of neuroinflammation and immunity, as well as to strive towards a better understanding of the complex mechanisms underlying AD.

2. Locus coeruleus (LC)-noradrenaline (NA) system: neuroanatomy and function

2.1. LC structure and anatomy

Locus coeruleus, also known as 'blue spot' due to the presence of neuromelanin granules within its structure, is a nucleus comprised of a dense cluster of neurons which serves as the main source of NA for the central nervous system (CNS) [33,34]. LC is located bilaterally in the brainstem right beneath the cerebellum, specifically in the rostral pontine tegmentum. It extends from the level of the inferior colliculus to the motor nucleus of the trigeminal nerve [33,34]. By having extensive networks of ramified axons that diffuse globally in the neuroaxis, LC mediates the release of NA into hippocampus,

amygdala, thalamus, and neocortex [35]. The release of NA to the CNS by LC is carried out by the efferent projections, which are distinguished into two ascending fibre systems – dorsal noradrenergic bundle and the rostral limb of the dorsal periventricular pathway [34].

There is strong evidence from the recent studies supporting the idea that the LC projections are organized in a modular design [35–37]. This implies that the LC channels are separated, potentially allowing for distinct pathways of NA action [38]. Furthermore, the LC allows for the release of NA in a selective fashion, specific to different regions it projects to, thus allowing for different effects in corresponding target areas [35,38].

In contrast, integration of LC efferent input, which concerns the afferents of LC, is less well known [33]. However, there have been light and electron microscopy immunocytochemical studies on the neuronal processes of LC extending outside the nucleus proper, or the LC 'core' [39]. It was thus indicated that the dendrites of LC neurons extend into two pericoerulear zones (peri-LC) where they receive extensive non-noradrenergic input, for example GABAergic [39]. This shows that peri-LC dendrites serve as important centres for integration of signals in the LC. Additionally, GABAergic neurons of peri-LC were found to play a local regulatory role of LC-NA cell activity [40,41]. Subsequent findings unveiled that the LC core receives signals from medullary nuclei, regions of brainstem and forebrain. Inputs that innervate peri-LC GABAergic neurons were found to be partially distinct from those that directly target the LC-NA neurons [35,41,42]. This emphasizes the structural complexity that LC anatomy possesses, highlighted by the signalling not only limited to NA, but also the involvement of GABA in the peri-LC.

Consequently, varied sources of inputs can elicit distinct effects on the output of LC-NA neurons, both through direct and indirect pathways, by selectively targeting either the LC core or the peri-LC [43]. In the end, further investigation on the structural connectivity of the afferent neurons with LC core and peri-LC networks is needed for an improved understanding of the functional component of LC. A better examination into the LC structure and anatomy would deepen the insight into the LC-NA's relationship with the sleep-cycle, the associated sleep pathology, and the emergence of AD.



Figure 2. Efferent and afferent anatomy of locus coeruleus (LC). Noradrenergic projections of LC in the brain which cover hypothalamus, amygdala, thalamus, and neocortex. (left). Interconnectivity of LC with other sleep-wake centers in the brain (right). 5-HT – serotonin; Ach – acetylcholine; BF – basal forebrain; DA – dopamine; DR – dorsal raphe; LC – locus coeruleus; LDT – laterodorsal tegmentum; LH – lateral hypothalamus; NE – norepinephrine; PG – periaqueductal grey matter; PPT – pediponculopontine tegmentum; TMN – tuberomammaliary nucleus; VLPO – ventrolateral preoptic area; VTA – ventral tegmental area. [Adapted from Van Egroo et al. (2022)]

2.2. Noradrenaline as a neurotransmitter and its role in the central nervous system

The release of NA within a specific neural pathway relies upon the presence and characteristics of α and β -adrenergic receptors on pre- and postsynaptic terminals [33]. The nine receptor subtypes identified, α 1A, α 1B, α 1D, α 2A, α 2B, α 2C, β 1, β 2, and β 3, exhibit unique distribution patterns, levels of sensitivity to NA, and modes of actions within the networks in which they are interwoven [33]. Both distinct and overlapping effects on cell signalling can be observed, in which α 1 and β serve an excitatory function, and α 2 inhibitory [33]. Overall, LC-NA is primarily involved in neuromodulation of core

behavioural states, involving the control of wakefulness/arousal, and state-dependent cognitive processes [44,45]. Ultimately, recent electrophysiological and lesion studies have highlighted the role of LC in waking, orienting reflex, cognitive flexibility, sensory gating, goal-directed activity, analgesia, pain and stress responses, fear conditioning, and fear extinction learning [36]. This illustrates the multitude of cognitive processes that LC-NA mediates, many of which are heavily involved in sleep cycle or affected by AD.

NA as a neurotransmitter has a wide array of effects that translate into alterations in the response properties of sensory neurons of various sensory systems. Particularly, NA influences the receptive-field properties of visual cortical neurons [46,47], odour detection and discrimination thresholds in the olfactory bulb [48], frequency tuning plasticity in the auditory cortex [49], auditory perception [50], and performance in visually guided tasks [51]. Notably, the modulatory effects of LC-NA activation follow an inverted-U function, with optimal effects occurring at intermediate NA concentrations - a relationship described as the Yerkes-Dodson law [52,53]. The action of NA is different depending on the receptor subtype. That is, α 1 receptors are utilized for strengthening of sensory neuronal responses at moderate concentrations, whereas α 2 receptors are used for degrading signal processing at higher concentrations, as demonstrated by in vitro studies [54]. For instance, through the activation of α -adrenoreceptors NA enhances the response of the dorsal lateral geniculate nucleus upon receiving visual stimuli [55]. Furthermore, NA contributes to cortical plasticity by selectively modifying the frequency tuning curves of auditory cortex neurons when paired with specific tone frequencies [49]. These changes are observed in thalamic and cortical sensory regions, and include changes in the magnitude [49,52,55-58] and timing of stimulus evoked discharges [59,60]. Therefore, wakefulness and enhanced neuronal responsiveness is regulated by cholinergic and noradrenergic systems, which inhibit thalamocortical rhythms by modulating specialized potassium currents in thalamic and cortical neurons, thereby promoting an excitatory state necessary for cognitive processes [57]. In such way, NA is a central neurotransmitter not only necessary for activation and maintenance of cognitive states, but is also a critical component of sleep physiology. Therefore, mechanism of action of NA can shed light on the neurodegenerative processes, such as AD.

LC-NA system, being part of the reticular formation, is comprised of the ascending and descending pathways [61]. The ascending pathways is heavily involved in the arousal and sleep regulation, and therefore will be the focal subject in this review. Anatomically, the ascending arousal system consists of the pedunculopontine (PPT), laterodorsal tegmental (LDT) nuclei, the raphe nucleus, and the ventral tegmental area (VTA). These nuclei release acetylcholine (ACh), serotonin (5-HT), and dopamine (DA), respectively. By working in conjunction with wakefulness-promoting systems of the basal forebrain (ACh), the histamine-orexin axis in hypothalamus, and the fast action neurotransmitters (glutamate and GABA), the sedative and sleep-promoting effects of GABAergic and galaninergic neurons in preoptic area, melanin concentrating hormone (MCH) of the hypothalamus, and the GABAergic neurons in the parafacial zone is thus counteracted, leading to homeostatic regulation of sleep-wake cycle [32]. The coordinated balancing of these neuronal systems is required for the healthy brain function and dysregulation of such can be descriptive of a neurodegeneration process.

2.3. Function of the LC-NA system in sleep-wake regulation

As shown by neuronal retrograde tracing studies [62], LC-NA neurons are indeed modular, which was additionally supported by the viral-genetic tracing [35]. Thus, the corresponding target areas of LC-NA efferent action in the sleep-wake circuitry are cholinergic and GABAergic neurons of the basal forebrain, GABAergic neurons of the ventrolateral preoptic area (VLPO) in the anterior hypothalamus, orexinergic neurons of the lateral hypothalamus, serotonergic neurons of the dorsal raphe, and cholinergic neurons of the PPT nucleus [31,32,63]. These neuronal circuits play a critical role in sleep-wake regulation.

In addition, the afferents of LC-NA integrate non-noradrenergic inputs from orexinergic, GABAergic, histaminergic, dopaminergic, serotonergic, and cholinergic neurons [31,32,63]. This represents an array of various signals that are processed in the LC. Prominently, the presence of GABAergic neurons in the peri-LC [41] has been shown to play an inhibiting role in local regulation of tonic and phasic activity of LC-NA in sleep. Tonic activity refers to a baseline level of neuronal firing and is generally associated with non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep due to lower neuronal activity. Whereas phasic activity refers to bursts of neuronal firing occurring in a rhythmic manner, which is commonly associated with rapid eye movement (REM) sleep due to increased neuronal activity [64]

LC activity is timed to release NA during NREM sleep memory processing, coinciding with the peaks of slow oscillations, which contributes to the synaptic potentiation and safeguarding of neural circuits [65]. Conversely, synaptic downscaling is represented by LC-NA silence prior to NREM spindles and REM memory processing [66–68]. Hence, disruption of LC-NA activity during these sleep stages can indeed impair memory consolidation [69,70], which is a common denominator of AD. In conditions such as PTSD, insomnia, opioid withdrawal and pre-clinical AD, an overactive LC is observed, which is contributory to emotional and hippocampal memory deficits [71,72], while the decline of LC-NA activity in late-stage AD could impair NA delivery to the forebrain synapses, leading to dementia [73]. Therefore, the modular organization of LC-NA make it an important information integration centre essential for modulation of sleep and wakefulness. These functions are adversely impacted by AD symptomatology.

3. Role of sleep in LC-NA system and Alzheimer's disease

3.1. Overview of sleep architecture

Sleep is a complex electrophysiological process necessary for homeostasis maintenance. Understanding sleep architecture, the structure and pattern of sleep cycles, is crucial when exploring neurodegenerative conditions, such as AD. Electrophysiology (EEG) recordings distinguish between distinct patterns of brain activity. For instance, REM sleep is associated with Beta (15-40 Hz) and Theta (4-7 Hz) waves. Beta waves are linked with wakefulness as can be described by the increased activity in the limbic system and visual cortex. Meanwhile, Theta waves are linked with active dreaming experience. Also called paradoxical sleep, REM sleep is hence canonically essential for memory consolidation [74].

On the other hand, NREM stages can be further distinguished into stages: NREM 1, 2, and 3. NREM 1 is marked by Theta waves, NREM 2 by sleep spindles (12-15 Hz) and K-complexes (slow waves), and NREM 3 by Delta waves (0.5-4 Hz). In EEG recordings of the initial stages of NREM, a decreased activity in the frontal and parietal lobes is observed. This is followed by decreased activity of cortical regions in NREM 2 stage, culminating in NREM 3, the deepest stage of sleep also known as slow-wave sleep (SWS), characterized by minimal brain activity.

Wakefulness, arguably constituting a part of sleep cycle, is represented by Alpha (8-13 Hz) waves in the EEG readings [75]. This state is progressively downregulated, especially during transition from phasic to tonic cognitive states [64]. The structure and phases of sleep are important because sleep irregularities accompany AD even at pre-clinical stage, as well as being a predisposing factor of AD development [76–78]. Therefore, sleep architecture can serve as a useful descriptive component of AD and should thus be assessed.

3.2. How disrupted sleep affects LC-NA and AD

Polysomnography (PSG), combining EEG, electromyography (EMG) and electrooculography (EOG) signals simultaneously, offers an objective evaluation of sleep metrics [79]. PSG is a tool capable of providing a valuable insight of the sleep architecture and the physiological changes associated with AD. For example, a disruption in SWS activity, quantified by the change in Delta frequency, has been linked with significantly increased Aβ levels, thus underpinning NREM SWS involvement in Aβ clearance [80]. Therefore, disturbance of SWS can possibly be an early biomarker for AD, as it can be identified even at MCI stage [81].

Moreover, the neurodegeneration due to disturbed REM sleep can be explained by the dysregulation of the orexinergic system, which is positively associated with tau protein levels in AD [82]. Likewise, tau deposition is evident in cholinergic neurons, making cholinergic system another quantifier of early AD pathology [83]. Even though not being an explicit part of LC-NA architecture, orexinergic and cholinergic neurons are indirectly linked to it via the afferent anatomy, with their inputs serving an important role in sleep modulation associated with LC activity.

Additionally, sleep spindles of NREM 2, being a product of complex communication between thalamic, limbic, and cortical regions, were shown to be altered in PSG studies [84]. Compromised structure and function of these brain regions, make sleep spindles an additional biomarker for AD detection [85].

In vivo microdialysis in mice demonstrated a direct association of sleep deprivation with elevated NA levels in the prefrontal cortex following prolonged period of wakefulness, with LC-NA neurons efferent to medial prefrontal cortex particularly affected neuronal stress [86]. An altered activity of catecholamine function of LC-NA can therefore lead to detrimental effects on cognitive function, due to imbalance in NA transmission.

At the same time, photoactivation of orexinergic neurons, afferents of LC, via dual optogenetic technique, has been shown to interfere with the sleep-wake transitions [87]. This suggests that disruption of the afferent signalling in LC can lead to disturbed sleeping patterns explained by the LC-NA's crucial involvement in modulation of endogenously and sensory triggered transitions between sleep and wakefulness [88]. Although it is important to note that REM sleep duration or probability of NREM to REM sleep transition remained unchanged upon either optogenetic stimulation or inhibition [89], implying that these are likely to be mediated by another regulatory component of sleep. Hence, LC's precise role must thus be distinguished and isolated.

The conglomerative findings on the involvement of LC-NA system in sleep macro- and microstructure emphasize the role that LC-NA fulfils in keeping the balance between synaptic potentiation during NREM and depotentiation during REM sleep [90]. Overall worsening of stability and synchronization of the LC-NA system can interrupt the normal rhythmicity of LC-NA neuronal firing, which can result in irregular NA release, descriptive of modulatory impairments of sleep and wakefulness.

Hence, LC-NA is an important integration centre involved in sleep regulation, mainly through noradrenergic release and coordinated action of adrenergic receptors. Its proper functioning in sleep spindle generation, alongside normal NREM Delta and REM sleep Theta oscillations, is imperative for normal memory processing [69]. Therefore, it is suggestive of a bidirectional relation between abnormal LC activity and memory impairments associated with AD [69].



Figure 4. LC-NA activity and sleep. LC-NA tonic firing rate is highest during wakefulness, lower during NREM and is completely silent during REM phase of sleep. Insufficient LC-NA silencing can become a cause of insomnia. Timing of NA release is important for a balanced potentiation and depotentiation of synapses, therefore REM sleep becomes disrupted if LC remains active and NA is released. Resulting absence of REM sleep without NA present interferes with synaptic plasticity in limbic areas of the brain such as claustrum and anterior cingulate cortex. These areas have been found to have genes associated with insomnia, which highlights the implications of LC function and its connected networks in sleep homeostasis. ACC - anterior cingulate cortex; AM - amygdala; IC - insular cortex; LC – locus coeruleus; OFC – orbitofrontal cortex. [Adapted from Van Egroo et al. (2022) and Van Someren (2021)]

4. Neurodegenerative changes in the Locus Coeruleus associated with Alzheimer's disease

Certain changes in the LC-NA system revealed by the recent MRI studies can be considered a part of normal ageing process, such as changes in neuromelanin, neuronal or dendritic shrinkage, and including reduced NA-mediated plasticity in LC terminals and hippocampus [73,91,92]. Yet LC remains a highly vulnerable spot of neurodegeneration. Since chances of developing AD increase with progressing age, pathological ageing is considered one of the risk factors for AD pathogenesis, with LC being the first structure in the brain where tau hyperphosphorylation can be observed [93,94]. Substantial loss of neurons in LC due to AD pathology implies a possible causal link between LC damage and AD [95].

Furthermore, ¹⁸fluorodeoxyglucose PET used to measure regional brain metabolism through glucose consumption had confirmed a significant difference in neuronal activity between REM and NREM sleep [96,97]. A higher metabolic rate in REM can be explained by the continuous firing pattern of the cortical neurons, which explains Beta and Theta power in EEG recordings [98]. This is contrasted by SWS of NREM stage, during which LC is generally inactive, described by the neuronal silence [99]. A disrupted REM sleep pattern is noted when LC is insufficiently inactive, which underlines the importance of properly regulated noradrenergic neuron firing [90]. Additionally, $A\beta$ was observed to be released into interstitial fluid (ISF) during the periods of elevated activity in neurons, those associated with REM or waking state, which led to notion that a higher synaptic activity leads to elevated $A\beta$ levels in the ISF [100]. Thus, it can be hypothesized that LC-NA disfunction, leading to abnormal NA production and increased neuronal firing, could potentially result in unusually high synaptic activity which may disrupt REM or NREM sleep, possibly contributing to $A\beta$ accumulation in AD. Vice versa, it should be appreciated that LC damage can be an emerging property of AD, reiterating an idea of reciprocal causation between the two elements.



Figure 3. Vicious cycle between LC-NA system, sleep-wake cycle, and AD. A schematic diagram showing the causal relationship between LC, sleep, and AD representing an emerging framework. [Adapted from Van Egroo et al. (2022)]

5. Interplay between A β pathology, neuroinflammation, and the LC-NA system

5.1. Impact of AD associated pathology on LC-NA system.

Experimental LC lesions in animal models further support the role of LC in the early AD development [93]. LC-NA circuit damage, collectively quantified by NFT's presence, death of noradrenergic neurons, and A β aggregation, exceeds even that of nucleus basalis, which is the primary source of cholinergic input and is among first structures to show signs of NFT accumulation in AD [101]. Post-mortem studies displayed the presence of tau in its pre-NFT form at the very early preclinical stage of AD [102–104], underlining the vulnerability and sensitivity of LC-NA to neurodegenerative processes. NA as the neurotransmitter itself acts as a possible risk factor for the AD related LC damage [93]. After synaptic release,

NA is taken up into the cytoplasm by the NA transporter where the cytoplasmic form of NA can be converted into chemically reactive and toxic metabolites [93]. For example, a product of monoamine oxidase (MAO) cleavage can be a cause of neurotoxicity as a result of damage to proteins, lipids, and nucleotides [93]. Overly active LC with dysregulated NA production can thus precede a higher NA turnover and 3,4-Dihydroxyphenylglycolaldehyde, a neurotoxic metabolite, production, constraining a cellular stress [93].

Morphologically, LC neurons display a constant and synchronous firing pattern. In case of stress response, for example to salient sensory stimuli, acute phasic bursting patterns superimposed on the tonic firing can be observed [105]. Such mechanism is energetically expensive, meaning that cells would rely heavily on mitochondrial phosphorylation, which can lead to accumulation of oxidative stress over time [93]. Additionally, since LC neuronal firing rhythmicity are maintained by Ca^{2+} channels, there is a further risk of mitochondrial toxicity due to excessive Ca^{2+} influx [93].

The location of LC below the fourth ventricle poses an additional risk for neuroinflammation [105]. LC neurons are located in close proximity to the ventricle, which allows for unrestricted flow of CSF [93]. In case of a compromised function of glymphatic system, CSF can become a source of neuroinflammation. This can be hypothetically connected to sleep impairment, as NREM stages are associated with the process of CSF flushing. LC is also heavily surrounded by brain capillaries, which in case of a compromised blood brain barrier (BBB) function, can lead to leakage of toxins and inflammatory molecules [106]. Lastly, LC axons are thought of as fragile since many are thin, long, branched, and unmyelinated, therefore making them sensitive to degradation [105].

5.2. Inflammatory processes and their influence on LC-NA system activity

Inflammation is of particular interest since it has been hypothesized that there is a direct relationship between the inflammatory responses and AD [107]. Disruption in circadian system, and as a result sleep, can be an a proinflammatory trigger inducive of such neuroinflammation [107]. Cytokines that are classically indicative of AD associated neuroinflammation, such as TNF- α , IL-1b, and IL-6, are involved in regulation of sleep [108]. Notably, the pro-inflammatory modulation by these cytokines is variable and potentially timing sensitive, as in there has been positive correlation shown of TNF- α and IL-6 involvement in sleep maintenance and SWS intensity in the evening [109].

The persistence of low-grade inflammation can be a risk factor for BBB disruption [107]. Thus, a negative impact on BBB permeability function possibly resulting from neurodegeneration [110], or chronic sleep disruption, [111] exacerbates neuroinflammation, which can be indicative of AD. In addition to impaired BBB permeability, sleep disruption affected vascular reactivity, decreased glucose transport, and induced microglia activation in animal models [112,113]. These cumulative findings further emphasize the pro-inflammatory state in AD pathology.

Moreover, pro-inflammatory cytokines have been linked to the increased levels of rod-shaped cofilin-actin bundles of filaments, or simply rods [114]. Cofilin serves the function of binding to actin filaments and promotes their disassembly, thereby controlling remodelling of actin filaments [114]. Under cellular stress, as observed in AD, cofilin becomes overactive leading to the formation of said rods. The connection between cofilin dysregulation and AD has been demonstrated in mice studies [115]. The formation of rods through cofilin sequestration disrupts actin dynamics, blocks neuronal transport, exacerbates mitochondrial potential loss, and ultimately contributes majorly to synaptic dysfunction[114,116,117]. Therefore, disruption of cofilin signalling due to sleep loss can potentially be linked to AD progression at the molecular level. The impact of sleep disruption on neuroinflammation, BBB integrity, and actin dynamics has direct implications on the LC-NA system's vulnerability to damage and dysfunction.

5.3. The glymphatic system: How sleep deprivation influences A β clearance and the role of astrocytes

In the brain, glymphatic system serves as a mechanism for clearance of toxic waste, such as A β , via CSF and ICF dynamics [118]. Evidence from human studies strongly suggests that CSF flow is related to amyloid pathology [118]. Moreover, it has been indicated that A β metabolism in blood and CSF of healthy adults is a part of circadian rhythm regulation [118]. Animal studies are in concordance with the notion that sleep-wake dysregulation may lead to dysfunction of glymphatic system, and clearance of toxic waste as a result [118]. Furthermore, the data underlines that sleep deprivation supresses glymphatic circulation of SCF-derived apolipoprotein E (ApoE) in the brain [118]. This poses a serious risk to BBB integrity, which is a crucial component of A β clearance.

It has been commonly reported that sleep deprivation or dysfunction leads to systemic inflammation and subsequent release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which in turn alters BBB function [111,118]. Multiple studies have confirmed BBB's role in the A β transport and removal, which is regulated by ATP-binding cassette transporters and members of the low-density lipoprotein family in ApoE dependent and independent manner [119,120]. Apart from fulfilling a function in BBB integrity, ApoE interacts with astrocytes, contributing to A β elimination, hence a sleep disturbance might result in increased A β accumulation via feed-forward mechanism [118]. Astrocytes have been suggested to be involved in removal of toxic waste and metabolic support, especially during the SWS [118]. Interestingly, astrocytes have been indicated to be involved in sleep regulation through elucidated intraneuronal communication, and via modulating adenosine, a neurochemical involved in sleep regulation [121]. Hence, a sleep disturbance can affect astrocyte-ApoE dependent A β removal, which subsequently may result in increased A β accumulation via feed-forward mechanism [118].

In the hypothesis of glymphatic clearance, astrocytic aquaporin-4 (Aqp4) is required to remove toxic waste from the ICF [118]. The role of astrocytes in the glymphatic system, together with expression of Aqrp4 during sleep and in both stages (pre- and clinical), has already been evaluated [121,122]. Following research involving Aqp4-knockout mice affirmed these findings, revealing a reduction in A β_{40} clearance which led to the deposition of A β in the cortex and hippocampus [123]. While there is no direct evidence showing the impact of sleep-wake cycles on Aqp4 expression, it has been noted that the clearance of exogenously introduced A β from the interstitial space substantially declines in awakened mice, and reverses during sleep [124]. Further evidence for sleep-wake state influencing the glymphatic system efficiency of A β clearance, rather than circadian rhythm, was provided [124]. Adrenergic signalling during waking state was shown to be responsible for increased resistance to the flow of interstitial fluid which in turn causes the decrease of interstitial space [124]. Combined, these findings suggest that the impairment in A β clearance seen in AD may primarily originate from astrocyte involvement in the glymphatic process during sleep. The efficiency of the glymphatic system in A β clearance is crucial to maintain LC-NA system integrity, as build-up of A β is one of the hallmarks of LC damage, which may lead to dysregulated NA release and disrupted sleep patterns.

6. Research methods and techniques for studying the LC-NA system and sleep in AD

Despite the interest, the LC-NA system has been under-investigated due to technical limitations. Recent advances in neuroscientific research tools gave a definite description and characterization of the 'blue spot'. The new observations of LC have been helping to affirm the significance of NA's involvement in the neurodegenerative disorders.

PET has been an indispensable technique of visualizing $A\beta$ and tau depositions. Comparative analyses of tracer accumulation in the brain regions allows to estimate the extent of $A\beta$ and tau pathology, and longitudinal PET can provide an additional insight into AD progression. Empirical evidence supporting the amyloid cascade hypothesis, alongside $A\beta$ and tau utilities as biomarkers for AD motivated an investigation into more rigorous neuroimaging agents [13]. However, the observed weak correlation between $A\beta$ load and the severity of dementia, and the role of tau in neurodegeneration, implies an interdependency of $A\beta$ and tau roles in AD, calling for improved radio tracing agents [125]. Moreover, the ability to quantitatively assess tau burden in the living brain would provide an immense perspective on tauopathies, analogous of the earlier breakthroughs in targeted $A\beta$ probes [125]. The recent advances in radiotracers had emerged as instrumental in AD research, as it allows for a higher affinity towards $A\beta$ or tau proteins in the brain [125], implying a more accurate and sensitive detection of AD biomarkers.

In studies involving mouse lesions or NA depletion, LC degeneration in AD has been linked to deteriorations in learning and memory associated with synaptic deficits [126–130]. In partially induced lesions in mice, increased LC firing and NA turnover was attained, outlining the role of LC-NA in sleep and AD [93].

Post-mortem AD studies have confirmed an elevated CSF NA turnover, implying both a failure in glymphatic system and a causative role of NA in AD origins [131–134]. Interestingly, human and animal post-mortem findings demonstrated that LC neurons can withstand tau burden for significantly long time before cell death [93]. Specifically, a transgenic mice overexpressing a mutant tau form with higher likeliness of hyperphosphorylation and accumulation (P301S), exhibited an AD tauopathy that damaged the forebrain, but not the LC by the time of mice's death at ~ 12 months [135,136]. The earliest presence of tau in LC before any other region of the brain has been reinforced by TgF344-AD transgenic mice, which overexpressed APP and PRES-1, with no cell death in LC after a year later noted [137]. This led to the 'two-hit' hypothesis, which speculates that a second trigger is needed, apart from tau, in order to initiate cell death in LC [138]. Although one animal study showcased rapid tau neurotoxicity, which utilized a direct injection of preformed NFTs into the LC [139]. Hence, in this case the mechanism behind cell death might differ from the endogenous tau formation [139].

An extension of a post-mortem study, which involved tyrosine hydroxylase immunohistochemistry and stereology of LC-NA neurons revealed a 30% neuronal loss in transition from no cognitive impairment (NCI) to amnestic mild cognitive impairment (aMCI), together with 25% neuronal loss in AD [140]. This was shown to significantly associate with poorer antemortem global cognitive function, and an increased post-mortem neuropathology [140]. Molecular mechanism behind LC neurodegeneration in aMCI was assessed by performing a microarray analysis, which demonstrates a reduction in some classes of function mRNA. Those are responsible for mitochondrial respiration, redox balance and AD related neuroplasticity, and specific levels of gene expression in these functional classes linked with cognitive neuropathology [140]. Notably, the increase in 3-repeated (3-R) to 4-repeated (4-R) isoforms of tau, combined 3R/4R tauopathy being focal in PET investigations, which is associated with the NFT formation and slower axonal transport, suggests LC neurons' susceptibility to oxidative stress and axonal degeneration happening prior to MCI [140].

Optogenetic or chemogenetic techniques of activating LC suggested a causative link in sleep dysregulation [89,141,142]. Considering the alterations in LC neurons firing pattern during phase of sleep and waking, and the sleep quality being a predictor of AD development, the evident changes in LC firing preceding sleep-wake transitions seem to emphasize the role of LC in sleep regulation and its potential contribution to the onset of AD. Indeed, inappropriate LC release of NA leading to sleep fragmentation during SWS or REM sleep highlights the complexity of LC-NA role in sleep and its significance in understanding AD.

However, an essential element considering LC hyperactivity is the possible development of compensatory mechanism in response to LC dysfunction [143]. For instance, one study showed an inverse correlation between high NA turnover and the numbers of surviving LC neurons in AD, while others reported an increased expression of tyrosine hydroxylase, a ratelimiting enzyme in NA biosynthesis, as well as axonal sprouting in hippocampus [134,144]. Furthermore, animal studies supported an observation of higher NA activity in relation to LC neurodegeneration [145,146].

Undoubtedly, new developments in the neuroscientific techniques shed more light on the 'blue spot' and its impact on sleep and AD. Although there is a substantial necessity for more investigations in the areas of transcriptomics, proteomics and epigenetics in order to locate the origins of AD within LC-NA circuitry, and to identify potential therapeutic targets.

7. Discussion

7.1.1. Sleep as a therapeutic target

Targeting sleep as a preventative strategy for AD can be useful since it is involved in A β clearance during NREM phase of sleep, and memory consolidation [74,124,147]. Considering that LC-NA activity is tightly linked with sleep regulation, enhancing NREM and/or REM sleep might be a viable strategy for the treatment and prevention of AD.

Sleep disruption has been demonstrated to be associated with elevated A β or tau levels [148–151]. In a group subjected to overnight sleep deprivation an increase in A β_{1-38} , A β_{1-40} , 1-42 CSF levels by 25-30% was reported, compared to the control [149]. Additionally, CSF tau has been demonstrated to increase by more than 50% during sleep deprivation [150].

Normal sleep function is associated with a 60% increase in interstitial space, leading to a higher rate in convective exchange of CSF in the glymphatic function [124]. A β clearance has been noted to be improved by SWS through glymphatic system, implying a hypothetical connection between the regulation of wakefulness through NA release, and sleep-dependent regulation of A β and tau levels [124]. Enhanced glymphatic function and clearance can improve A β and tau clearance, which can be possibly achieved by boosting astrocyte activation or the expression of Aqp4 channels.

The waking state is associated with a higher metabolic stress due to the increased oxygen and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) consumption [152]. Oxidative stress promotes $A\beta$ accumulation, which in turn promotes oxidative stress further in a feedback loop fashion [153]. Hence, a disruption of the sleep-wake cycle, which can arise due to LC-NA dysregulation, can exacerbate $A\beta$ pathogenesis, providing an additional supportive argument for the sleep improvement as a preventative strategy in AD.

A classical medication used in AD are acetylcholinesterase (AChE) inhibitors, which increase the amount of acetylcholine available – a neurotransmitter important in memory and learning – by inhibiting AChE and thus improving the cholinergic transmission [154]. Aside from improving or maintaining AD related dementia, AChE inhibitor donepezil has been shown to increase the duration of REM sleep [155,156].

Another possible therapeutic target can be orexin. A β levels have been reported to be associated with orexin, and in vivo microdialysis of mice had shown that orexin antagonist infusion decreased A β levels [26,157].

In an overly active LC-NA, damage can arise from glutamate excitotoxicity, which can be mediated by NMDA receptor blockage. For example, memantine, an NMDA receptor antagonist, can modulate NMDA receptor activity which may aid in alleviating AD symptoms and slow the disease progression [28].

Furthermore, evidence suggests that TNF-alpha signalling inhibition prior to amyloid plaque formation prevents glutamate excitotoxicity at a later AD stage in mouse model [158]. This indicates that administering TNF-alpha inhibitors in preclinical AD can be a means of prophylactics and prevention of later cognitive and synaptic deterioration [158].

7.1.2. LC-NA as a therapeutic target

In contrast, some novel therapeutic strategies aim to protect or enhance the LC-NA function, in order to normalize NMDA receptor activity, by modulating NA levels [33]. Certain selective NA reuptake inhibitors targeting NA synthesis, signalling or metabolism include atomoxetine [159], reboxetine [160], synthetic NA precursor L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylserine (L-DOPS) [161], and alpha2-adrenergic receptor agonist lofexidine [162]. NA reuptake inhibitors would prevent the reuptake of NA into pre-synaptic neurons, thus increasing NA concentration in the synapses and potentially improving cognition in AD.

Another argument for therapeutically raising CNS NA levels is provided by a 5xFAD transgenic mice study, in which LC damage was observed as evidenced by increased astrocyte activation, neuronal hypertrophy, reduced LC-enriched messenger RNA (mRNA) levels, and increased inflammation [163]. By increasing CNS NA levels treating 5xFAD mice with synthetic NA precursor L-DOPS, the learning in the Morris water maze test has improved [163]. It was concluded that L-DOPS reduced astrocyte activation, increased mRNA levels of neprilysin and insulin degrading enzyme, and of multiple neurotrophins, and increased brain-derived neurotrophic factor protein levels. Elevating NA levels, by the means of L-DOPS for example, can be a possible therapeutic strategy in improving AD pathology.

Drugs acting on LC co-transmitters can also have a therapeutic application [93]. Galanin is co-released with NA in several areas of the brain, and is known to inhibit the firing of LC neurons, and the release of NA accordingly [164]. In AD pathogenesis, the expression of galanin in LC is observed to be increased, which may be a compensatory protective response against excitotoxicity caused by LC overactivation [33]. Therefore, the galaninergic system can be subject for therapeutic approach for pre-clinical AD since galanin modulates LC activity and has neuroprotective properties [164]

More detailed understanding of LC's architecture allowed to consider novel minimally invasive procedures in modulating LC activity, such as neuronal circuits originating from the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) that are relayed via the dorsomedial hypothalamus [43]. For example, retinal stimulation via chemogenetics, by exploiting SCN's strong innervation from specialized retinal ganglion cells, may be used to modulate LC for therapeutic benefit [165].

Similarly, transcutaneous vagus nerve stimulation has shown benefits in AD-related symptomatology, the effects of which are mediated through LC-NA activation [33]. Vagus nerve stimulation may also improve sleep quality in elderly by indirectly strengthening LC-NA function [166].

A better understanding of LC-NA system macro and microstructure, together with its efferent and afferent projections, cotransmitters, and survival factors, as well as its architectural modularity, will allow for a more accurate developments of therapeutic strategies against AD. An improvement in investigation techniques, with more longitudinal and cross-sectional studies of LC-NA can further provide a wider access to targets for intervention against the AD.

An enhanced synaptic and neuronal resilience against $A\beta$ pathology was achieved with type 4 phosphodiesterase (PDE4) inhibitor, which is a class of drugs linked to both AD and sleep [167,168]. Although it is worth noting that the neuroprotective effect potentially arises outside of the direct $A\beta$ pathway [169]. Additionally, recent studies reported the potential of PDE4 inhibitors to improve the clearance of aggregated tau [170]. Furthermore, elevated activity of PDE4 family leads to disruption in cAMP signalling cascade, which was identified as a major contributor to memory deterioration in sleep loss [171,172]. Thus, activation of cofilin is caused by dephosphorylation as a result of elevated PDE4A5 expression

in the hippocampus due to sleep loss, which can lead to include spine loss, lesser synaptic plasticity, and memory impairment [171–174]. The interplay between cofilin and PDE4 signalling, and cofilin's role in memory function, can make PDE4 inhibitors, such as rolipram, promising therapeutic interventions to tackle AD-related dementia alongside negative effects of sleep loss [147,172,173].

7.4. Future research directions and challenges in understanding the LC-NA system's role in AD-related sleep disruption

It has become clear that the role of glymphatic system in amyloid clearance and tau aggregation is heavily implicated in sleep and AD pathogenesis. However, additional animal studies relating glymphatic function with the LC-NA activity are needed in order to investigate pathways of LC-NA systems that are linked with sleep-wake dysregulation and AD in more detail.

It has been established that increased NA levels adversely affect glymphatic function by limiting the volume of the interstitial space, a more direct measure of LC-NA activity is required to further investigate the significance of NA concentrations and release [124]. Better understanding of the timing and synchronicity of NA action in LC-NA circuitry can provide insight in AD pathogenesis, sleep disorders and augment ongoing therapeutical approaches.

Moreover, optogenetic studies of LC-NA system in circadian regulation have not yet estimated its impact on glymphatic clearance, including long-term consequences. There is still an inconclusive consensus in favour of the glymphatic clearance system of the brain hypothesis, although the collected evidence thus far is supportive [175]. Therefore, there is a need for additional investigations dwelling into the study of the ordered processes during sleep, the functions behind each sleep sequence, and longitudinal studies assessing the physiological brain function, such as glymphatic clearance, at each precise stage.

Carrying out more longitudinal experiment designs concerning MCI and NCI AD individuals can contribute to a more precise understanding of the neuroprotective role of sleep-wake function [176] and LC-NA integrity [177]. Additionally, supplementing such longitudinal studies with parallel cross-sectional, transgenic mice models may allow for complementary, specific investigations on AD pathogenesis. For example, a PSG can be a powerful tool used in proposed longitudinal studies and yet, no PSG study has been done as of now to test the impact of LC-NA dysfunction on the sleep.

Interconnectivity of LC-NA system and its role as an effector of waking state through integration of orexinergic signalling [178], provide a strong argument for further investigations of separate LC-NA modalities in order to gain an independent insight on the function on each structural level of abstraction. Novel imaging approaches, organoid research and cross-sectional transgenic studies can provide such resolution, which can then assess the respective contributions of LC-NA networks to AD-related sleep dysregulation.

Lastly, it should be mentioned that while the causational relationship between sleep, LC-NA system and AD is heavily implicated, the serial causality remains speculative. While LC-NA disfunction can be potentially major risk factor for AD emergence with associated NA and sleep disruption, at the same time the AD progression itself may lead to the LC damage in the first place. Thus, further research should outline this distinction and future investigations would allow for better discerning of relationship between LC, AD and sleep.

References

- Jaroudi W, Garami J, Garrido S, Hornberger M, Keri S, Moustafa AA. Factors underlying cognitive decline in old age and Alzheimer's disease: the role of the hippocampus. *Rev Neurosci*. 2017;28(7):705-714. doi:10.1515/revneuro-2016-0086
- 2. Graff-Radford J, Yong KXX, Apostolova LG, et al. New insights into atypical Alzheimer's disease in the era of biomarkers. *Lancet Neurol*. 2021;20(3):222-234. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(20)30440-3
- 3. Scheltens P, De Strooper B, Kivipelto M, et al. Alzheimer's disease. *The Lancet*. 2021;397(10284):1577-1590. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32205-4
- 4. World Alzheimer Report 2018 The state of the art of dementia research: New frontiers. NEW Front.
- Sperling RA, Aisen PS, Beckett LA, et al. Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2011;7(3):280-292. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.003
- 6. Brion JP. Neurofibrillary Tangles and Alzheimer's Disease. Eur Neurol. 1998;40(3):130-140. doi:10.1159/000007969
- Jarrett JT, Berger EP, Lansbury PT. The carboxy terminus of the .beta. amyloid protein is critical for the seeding of amyloid formation: Implications for the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Biochemistry*. 1993;32(18):4693-4697. doi:10.1021/bi00069a001
- Saito T, Suemoto T, Brouwers N, et al. Potent amyloidogenicity and pathogenicity of Aβ43. *Nat Neurosci*. 2011;14(8):1023-1032. doi:10.1038/nn.2858
- Rodrigue KM, Kennedy KM, Devous MD, et al. -Amyloid burden in healthy aging: Regional distribution and cognitive consequences. *Neurology*. 2012;78(6):387-395. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e318245d295
- Piccini A, Russo C, Gliozzi A, et al. β-Amyloid Is Different in Normal Aging and in Alzheimer Disease*. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(40):34186-34192. doi:10.1074/jbc.M501694200
- 11. Butterfield DA, Abdul HM, Opii W, et al. REVIEW: Pin1 in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurochem*. 2006;98(6):1697-1706. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.03995.x
- 12. Mintun MA, LaRossa GN, Sheline YI, et al. [11C]PIB in a nondemented population: Potential antecedent marker of Alzheimer disease. *Neurology*. 2006;67(3):446-452. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000228230.26044.a4
- 13. Hardy J. The amyloid hypothesis for Alzheimer's disease: a critical reappraisal. *J Neurochem*. 2009;110(4):1129-1134. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06181.x
- 14. Jack CR, Knopman DS, Jagust WJ, et al. Hypothetical model of dynamic biomarkers of the Alzheimer's pathological cascade. *Lancet Neurol*. 2010;9(1):119-128. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70299-6
- Regan P, Whitcomb DJ, Cho K. Physiological and Pathophysiological Implications of Synaptic Tau. *The Neuroscientist*. 2017;23(2):137-151. doi:10.1177/1073858416633439
- 16. Kimura T, Whitcomb DJ, Jo J, et al. Microtubule-associated protein tau is essential for long-term depression in the hippocampus. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* 2014;369(1633):20130144. doi:10.1098/rstb.2013.0144
- 17. Witman GB, Cleveland DW, Weingarten MD, Kirschner MW. Tubulin requires tau for growth onto microtubule initiating sites. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 1976;73(11):4070-4074. doi:10.1073/pnas.73.11.4070
- Dixit R, Ross JL, Goldman YE, Holzbaur ELF. Differential Regulation of Dynein and Kinesin Motor Proteins by Tau. Science. 2008;319(5866):1086-1089. doi:10.1126/science.1152993

- Kondo J, Honda T, Mori H, et al. The car□yl third of tau is tightly bound to paired helical filaments. *Neuron*. 1988;1(9):827-834. doi:10.1016/0896-6273(88)90130-4
- Wood JG, Mirra SS, Pollock NJ, Binder LI. Neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer disease share antigenic determinants with the axonal microtubule-associated protein tau (tau). *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 1986;83(11):4040-4043. doi:10.1073/pnas.83.11.4040
- Moreira PI, Carvalho C, Zhu X, Smith MA, Perry G. Mitochondrial dysfunction is a trigger of Alzheimer's disease pathophysiology. *Biochim Biophys Acta BBA - Mol Basis Dis.* 2010;1802(1):2-10. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2009.10.006
- 22. Bekris LM, Yu CE, Bird TD, Tsuang DW. Review Article: Genetics of Alzheimer Disease. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol. 2010;23(4):213-227. doi:10.1177/0891988710383571
- Goate A. Segregation of a missense mutation in the amyloid beta-protein precursor gene with familial Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2006;9(3):341-347. doi:10.3233/jad-2006-9s338
- Scheuner D, Eckman C, Jensen M, et al. Secreted amyloid β–protein similar to that in the senile plaques of Alzheimer's disease is increased in vivo by the presenilin 1 and 2 and APP mutations linked to familial Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Med.* 1996;2(8):864-870. doi:10.1038/nm0896-864
- 25. Lewis J, Dickson DW, Lin WL, et al. Enhanced Neurofibrillary Degeneration in Transgenic Mice Expressing Mutant Tau and APP. *Science*. 2001;293(5534):1487-1491.
- 26. Roh JH, Heda A, Finn MB, et al. Potential role of orexin in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2013;9(4, Supplement):P521. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2013.04.246
- Dufort-Gervais J, Mongrain V, Brouillette J. Bidirectional relationships between sleep and amyloid-beta in the hippocampus. *Neurobiol Learn Mem.* 2019;160:108-117. doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2018.06.009
- Lacor PN, Buniel MC, Furlow PW, et al. Aβ Oligomer-Induced Aberrations in Synapse Composition, Shape, and Density Provide a Molecular Basis for Loss of Connectivity in Alzheimer's Disease. *J Neurosci.* 2007;27(4):796-807. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3501-06.2007
- 29. Irwin MR, Vitiello MV. Implications of sleep disturbance and inflammation for Alzheimer's disease dementia. *Lancet Neurol.* 2019;18(3):296-306. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30450-2
- 30. D'Rozario AL, Chapman JL, Phillips CL, et al. Objective measurement of sleep in mild cognitive impairment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2020;52:101308. doi:10.1016/j.smrv.2020.101308
- 31. Lew CH, Petersen C, Neylan TC, Grinberg LT. Tau-driven degeneration of sleep- and wake-regulating neurons in Alzheimer's disease. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2021;60:101541. doi:10.1016/j.smrv.2021.101541
- 32. Saper CB, Fuller PM. Wake–sleep circuitry: an overview. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*. 2017;44:186-192. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2017.03.021
- Poe GR, Foote S, Eschenko O, et al. Locus coeruleus: a new look at the blue spot. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2020;21(11):644-659. doi:10.1038/s41583-020-0360-9
- Sharma Y, Xu T, Graf WM, et al. Comparative anatomy of the locus coeruleus in humans and nonhuman primates. J Comp Neurol. 2010;518(7):963-971. doi:10.1002/cne.22249
- 35. Schwarz LA, Miyamichi K, Gao XJ, et al. Viral-genetic tracing of the input–output organization of a central noradrenaline circuit. *Nature*. 2015;524(7563):88-92. doi:10.1038/nature14600
- Chandler DJ, Jensen P, McCall JG, Pickering AE, Schwarz LA, Totah NK. Redefining Noradrenergic Neuromodulation of Behavior: Impacts of a Modular Locus Coeruleus Architecture. *J Neurosci*. 2019;39(42):8239-8249. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1164-19.2019
- Kebschull JM, Garcia Da Silva P, Reid AP, Peikon ID, Albeanu DF, Zador AM. High-Throughput Mapping of Single-Neuron Projections by Sequencing of Barcoded RNA. *Neuron*. 2016;91(5):975-987. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2016.07.036
- Uematsu A, Tan BZ, Ycu EA, et al. Modular organization of the brainstem noradrenaline system coordinates opposing learning states. *Nat Neurosci.* 2017;20(11):1602-1611. doi:10.1038/nn.4642

- Shipley MT, Fu L, Ennis M, Liu WL, Aston-Jones G. Dendrites of locus coeruleus neurons extend preferentially into two pericoerulear zones. *J Comp Neurol*. 1996;365(1):56-68. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19960129)365:1<56::AID-CNE5>3.0.CO;2-I
- 40. Aston-Jones G, Zhu Y, Card JP. Numerous GABAergic Afferents to Locus Ceruleus in the Pericerulear Dendritic Zone: Possible Interneuronal Pool. *J Neurosci*. 2004;24(9):2313-2321. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5339-03.2004
- 41. Breton-Provencher V, Sur M. Active control of arousal by a locus coeruleus GABAergic circuit. *Nat Neurosci*. 2019;22(2):218-228. doi:10.1038/s41593-018-0305-z
- Luppi PH, Aston-Jones G, Akaoka H, Chouvet G, Jouvet M. Afferent projections to the rat locus coeruleus demonstrated by retrograde and anterograde tracing with cholera-toxin B subunit and Phaseolus vulgaris leucoagglutinin. *Neuroscience*. 1995;65(1):119-160. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(94)00481-J
- Aston-Jones G, Chen S, Zhu Y, Oshinsky ML. A neural circuit for circadian regulation of arousal. Nat Neurosci. 2001;4(7):732. doi:10.1038/89522
- Arnsten AFT. Catecholamine Influences on Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortical Networks. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2011;69(12):e89-e99. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.01.027
- Spencer RC, Berridge CW. Receptor and circuit mechanisms underlying differential procognitive actions of psychostimulants. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 2019;44(10):1820-1827. doi:10.1038/s41386-019-0314-y
- 46. McLean J, Waterhouse BD. Noradrenergic modulation of cat area 17 neuronal responses to moving visual stimuli. *Brain Res.* 1994;667(1):83-97. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(94)91716-7
- Waterhouse BD, Ausim Azizi S, Burne RA, Woodward DJ. Modulation of rat cortical area 17 neuronal responses to moving visual stimuli during norepinephrine and serotonin microiontophoresis. *Brain Res.* 1990;514(2):276-292. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(90)91422-D
- Escanilla O, Arrellanos A, Karnow A, Ennis M, Linster C. Noradrenergic modulation of behavioral odor detection and discrimination thresholds in the olfactory bulb. *Eur J Neurosci*. 2010;32(3):458-468. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07297.x
- 49. Manunta Y, Edeline JM. Noradrenergic induction of selective plasticity in the frequency tuning of auditory cortex neurons. *J Neurophysiol*. 2004;92(3):1445-1463. doi:10.1152/jn.00079.2004
- Martins ARO, Froemke RC. Coordinated forms of noradrenergic plasticity in the locus coeruleus and primary auditory cortex. *Nat Neurosci.* 2015;18(10):1483-1492. doi:10.1038/nn.4090
- Navarra RL, Clark BD, Gargiulo AT, Waterhouse BD. Methylphenidate Enhances Early-Stage Sensory Processing and Rodent Performance of a Visual Signal Detection Task. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 2017;42(6):1326-1337. doi:10.1038/npp.2016.267
- 52. Devilbiss DM, Page ME, Waterhouse BD. Locus Ceruleus Regulates Sensory Encoding by Neurons and Networks in Waking Animals. *J Neurosci*. 2006;26(39):9860-9872. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1776-06.2006
- Devilbiss DM, Waterhouse BD. The Effects of Tonic Locus Ceruleus Output on Sensory-Evoked Responses of Ventral Posterior Medial Thalamic and Barrel Field Cortical Neurons in the Awake Rat. J Neurosci. 2004;24(48):10773-10785. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1573-04.2004
- Devilbiss DM, Waterhouse BD. Norepinephrine exhibits two distinct profiles of action on sensory cortical neuron responses to excitatory synaptic stimuli. *Synapse*. 2000;37(4):273-282. doi:10.1002/1098-2396(2000915)37:4<273::AID-SYN4>3.0.CO;2-#
- Rogawski MA, Aghajanian GK. Modulation of lateral geniculate neurone excitability by noradrenaline microiontophoresis or locus coeruleus stimulation. *Nature*. 1980;287(5784):731-734. doi:10.1038/287731a0
- Foote SL, Freedman R, Oliver AP. Effects of putative neurotransmitters on neuronal activity in monkey auditory cortex. *Brain Res.* 1975;86(2):229-242. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(75)90699-X
- 57. McCormick A. CholinergRandnoradrenergRmodulation of thalamocortical processing. 1989;12(6).

- Vazey EM, Moorman DE, Aston-Jones G. Phasic locus coeruleus activity regulates cortical encoding of salience information. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2018;115(40). doi:10.1073/pnas.1803716115
- Lecas JC. Locus coeruleus activation shortens synaptic drive while decreasing spike latency and jitter in sensorimotor cortex. Implications for neuronal integration. *Eur J Neurosci*. 2004;19(9):2519-2530. doi:10.1111/j.0953-816X.2004.03341.x
- 60. Bouret S, Sara SJ. Locus coeruleus activation modulates firing rate and temporal organization of odour-induced singlecell responses in rat piriform cortex. *Eur J Neurosci*. 2002;16(12):2371-2382. doi:10.1046/j.1460-9568.2002.02413.x
- Van Egroo M, Koshmanova E, Vandewalle G, Jacobs HIL. Importance of the locus coeruleus-norepinephrine system in sleep-wake regulation: Implications for aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2022;62:101592. doi:10.1016/j.smrv.2022.101592
- 62. Mason ST, Fibiger HC. Regional topography within noradrenergic locus coeruleus as revealed by retrograde transport of horseradish peroxidase. *J Comp Neurol.* 1979;187(4):703-724. doi:10.1002/cne.901870405
- Samuels ER, Szabadi E. Functional Neuroanatomy of the Noradrenergic Locus Coeruleus: Its Roles in the Regulation of Arousal and Autonomic Function Part I: Principles of Functional Organisation. *Curr Neuropharmacol.* 6(3):235-253.
- Devilbiss DM. Consequences of tuning network function by tonic and phasic locus coeruleus output and stress: Regulating detection and discrimination of peripheral stimuli. *Brain Res.* 2019;1709:16-27. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2018.06.015
- 65. Sara SJ. Reactivation, retrieval, replay and reconsolidation in and out of sleep: connecting the dots. *Front Behav Neurosci*. 2010;4. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2010.00185
- Poe GR, Walsh CM, Bjorness TE. Both Duration and Timing of Sleep are Important to Memory Consolidation. Sleep. 2010;33(10):1277-1278. doi:10.1093/sleep/33.10.1277
- 67. Booth V, Poe GR. Input source and strength influences overall firing phase of model hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells during theta: Relevance to REM sleep reactivation and memory consolidation. *Hippocampus*. 2006;16(2):161-173. doi:10.1002/hipo.20143
- Poe GR, Nitz DA, McNaughton BL, Barnes CA. Experience-dependent phase-reversal of hippocampal neuron firing during REM sleep. *Brain Res.* 2000;855(1):176-180. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(99)02310-0
- Swift KM, Gross BA, Frazer MA, et al. Abnormal Locus Coeruleus Sleep Activity Alters Sleep Signatures of Memory Consolidation and Impairs Place Cell Stability and Spatial Memory. *Curr Biol.* 2018;28(22):3599-3609.e4. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2018.09.054
- Novitskaya Y, Sara SJ, Logothetis NK, Eschenko O. Ripple-triggered stimulation of the locus coeruleus during postlearning sleep disrupts ripple/spindle coupling and impairs memory consolidation. *Learn Mem.* 2016;23(5):238-248. doi:10.1101/lm.040923.115
- 71. Vanderheyden WM, Poe GR, Liberzon I. Trauma exposure and sleep: using a rodent model to understand sleep function in PTSD. *Exp Brain Res.* 2014;232(5):1575-1584. doi:10.1007/s00221-014-3890-4
- Wassing R, Lakbila-Kamal O, Ramautar JR, Stoffers D, Schalkwijk F, Van Someren EJW. Restless REM Sleep Impedes Overnight Amygdala Adaptation. *Curr Biol.* 2019;29(14):2351-2358.e4. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2019.06.034
- 73. Twarkowski H, Manahan-Vaughan D. Loss of catecholaminergic neuromodulation of persistent forms of hippocampal synaptic plasticity with increasing age. *Front Synaptic Neurosci*. 2016;8. doi:10.3389/fnsyn.2016.00030
- 74. Feld GB, Born J. Sculpting memory during sleep: concurrent consolidation and forgetting. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*. 2017;44:20-27. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2017.02.012
- 75. Havekes R, Meerlo P, Abel T. Animal Studies on the Role of Sleep in Memory: From Behavioral Performance to Molecular Mechanisms. In: Meerlo P, Benca RM, Abel T, eds. *Sleep, Neuronal Plasticity and Brain Function*. Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences. Springer; 2015:183-206. doi:10.1007/7854_2015_369
- 76. Yaffe K, Laffan AM, Harrison SL, et al. Sleep-Disordered Breathing, Hypoxia, and Risk of Mild Cognitive Impairment and Dementia in Older Women. *Obstet Gynecol Surv.* 2012;67(1):34. doi:10.1097/OGX.0b013e3182439f33

- 77. Westerberg CE, Mander BA, Florczak SM, et al. Concurrent Impairments in Sleep and Memory in Amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc.* 2012;18(3):490-500. doi:10.1017/S135561771200001X
- Lim ASP, Yu L, Kowgier M, Schneider JA, Buchman AS, Bennett DA. Modification of the Relationship of the Apolipoprotein E ε4 Allele to the Risk of Alzheimer Disease and Neurofibrillary Tangle Density by Sleep. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70(12):1544-1551. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.4215
- Zhang Y, Ren R, Yang L, et al. Sleep in Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of polysomnographic findings. *Transl Psychiatry*. 2022;12(1):136. doi:10.1038/s41398-022-01897-y
- 80. Ju YES, Ooms SJ, Sutphen C, et al. Slow wave sleep disruption increases cerebrospinal fluid amyloid-b levels.
- Lee YF, Gerashchenko D, Timofeev I, Bacskai BJ, Kastanenka KV. Slow Wave Sleep Is a Promising Intervention Target for Alzheimer's Disease. *Front Neurosci.* 2020;14. Accessed August 9, 2023. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnins.2020.00705
- Liguori C, Romigi A, Nuccetelli M, et al. Orexinergic System Dysregulation, Sleep Impairment, and Cognitive Decline in Alzheimer Disease. JAMA Neurol. 2014;71(12):1498-1505. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.2510
- 83. Mesulam M, Shaw P, Mash D, Weintraub S. Cholinergic nucleus basalis tauopathy emerges early in the aging-MCI-AD continuum. *Ann Neurol.* 2004;55(6):815-828. doi:10.1002/ana.20100
- Caporro M, Haneef Z, Yeh HJ, et al. Functional MRI of sleep spindles and K-complexes. *Clin Neurophysiol*. 2012;123(2):303-309. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2011.06.018
- Ktonas PY, Golemati S, Xanthopoulos P, et al. Time–frequency analysis methods to quantify the time-varying microstructure of sleep EEG spindles: Possibility for dementia biomarkers? *J Neurosci Methods*. 2009;185(1):133-142. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2009.09.001
- Bellesi M, Tononi G, Cirelli C, Serra PA. Region-Specific Dissociation between Cortical Noradrenaline Levels and the Sleep/Wake Cycle. Sleep. 2016;39(1):143-154. doi:10.5665/sleep.5336
- Horvath TL, Peyron C, Diano S, et al. Hypocretin (orexin) activation and synaptic innervation of the locus coeruleus noradrenergic system. *J Comp Neurol*. 1999;415(2):145-159. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19991213)415:2<145::AID-CNE1>3.0.CO;2-2
- Hayat H, Regev N, Matosevich N, et al. Locus coeruleus norepinephrine activity mediates sensory-evoked awakenings from sleep. *Sci Adv.* 2020;6(15). doi:10.1126/sciadv.aaz4232
- Carter ME, Yizhar O, Chikahisa S, et al. Tuning arousal with optogenetic modulation of locus coeruleus neurons. *Nat Neurosci.* 2010;13(12):1526-1533. doi:10.1038/nn.2682
- Van Someren EJW. Brain mechanisms of insomnia: new perspectives on causes and consequences. *Physiol Rev.* 2021;101(3):995-1046. doi:10.1152/physrev.00046.2019
- Mather M, Clewett D, Sakaki M, Harley CW. Norepinephrine ignites local hotspots of neuronal excitation: How arousal amplifies selectivity in perception and memory. *Behav Brain Sci.* 2016;39:e200. doi:10.1017/S0140525X15000667
- 92. Mann DMA, Yates PO. Lipoprotein pigments thier relationship to ageing in the human nervous system: I. The lipofuscin content of nerve cells. *Brain*. 1974;97(1):481-488. doi:10.1093/brain/97.1.481
- 93. Weinshenker D. Long Road to Ruin: Noradrenergic Dysfunction in Neurodegenerative Disease. *Trends Neurosci*. 2018;41(4):211-223. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2018.01.010
- 94. Braak H, Del Tredici K. Alzheimer's pathogenesis: is there neuron-to-neuron propagation? *Acta Neuropathol (Berl)*. 2011;121(5):589-595. doi:10.1007/s00401-011-0825-z
- 95. Oh J, Eser RA, Ehrenberg AJ, et al. Profound degeneration of wake-promoting neurons in Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement.* 2019;15(10):1253-1263. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2019.06.3916
- Maquet P, Dive D, Salmon E, et al. Cerebral glucose utilization during sleep-wake cycle in man determined by positron emission tomography and [18F]2-fluoro-2-deoxy-d-glucose method. *Brain Res.* 1990;513(1):136-143. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(90)91099-3

- Dang-Vu TT, Schabus M, Desseilles M, Sterpenich V, Bonjean M, Maquet P. Functional Neuroimaging Insights into the Physiology of Human Sleep. Sleep. 2010;33(12):1589-1603. doi:10.1093/sleep/33.12.1589
- Abel T, Havekes R, Saletin JM, Walker MP. Sleep, Plasticity and Memory from Molecules to Whole-Brain Networks. *Curr Biol.* 2013;23(17):R774-R788. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2013.07.025
- Nir Y, Staba RJ, Andrillon T, et al. Regional Slow Waves and Spindles in Human Sleep. Neuron. 2011;70(1):153-169. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.02.043
- 100. Cirrito JR, Yamada KA, Finn MB, et al. Synaptic Activity Regulates Interstitial Fluid Amyloid-β Levels In Vivo. Neuron. 2005;48(6):913-922. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2005.10.028
- 101. Zarow C, Lyness SA, Mortimer JA, Chui HC. Neuronal loss is greater in the locus coeruleus than nucleus basalis and substantia nigra in Alzheimer and Parkinson diseases. *Arch Neurol.* 2003;60(3):337-341. doi:10.1001/archneur.60.3.337
- 102. Tredici KD, Braak H. Dysfunction of the locus coeruleus–norepinephrine system and related circuitry in Parkinson's disease-related dementia. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2013;84(7):774-783. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2011-301817
- 103. Elobeid A, Soininen H, Alafuzoff I. Hyperphosphorylated tau in young and middle-aged subjects. *Acta Neuropathol* (*Berl*). 2012;123(1):97-104. doi:10.1007/s00401-011-0906-z
- 104. Braak H, Del Tredici K. Where, when, and in what form does sporadic Alzheimer's disease begin? Curr Opin Neurol. 2012;25(6):708-714. doi:10.1097/WCO.0b013e32835a3432
- 105. Berridge CW, Waterhouse BD. The locus coeruleus–noradrenergic system: modulation of behavioral state and statedependent cognitive processes. *Brain Res Rev.* 2003;42(1):33-84. doi:10.1016/S0165-0173(03)00143-7
- 106. Pamphlett R. Uptake of environmental toxicants by the locus ceruleus: A potential trigger for neurodegenerative, demyelinating and psychiatric disorders. *Med Hypotheses*. 2014;82(1):97-104. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2013.11.016
- 107. Atienza M, Ziontz J, Cantero JL. Low-grade inflammation in the relationship between sleep disruption, dysfunctional adiposity, and cognitive decline in aging. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2018;42:171-183. doi:10.1016/j.smrv.2018.08.002
- Krueger JM, Rector DM, Churchill L. Sleep and Cytokines. *Sleep Med Clin*. 2007;2(2):161-169. doi:10.1016/j.jsmc.2007.03.003
- Bjurström MF, Olmstead R, Irwin MR. Reciprocal Relationship between Sleep Macrostructure and Evening and Morning Cellular Inflammation in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Psychosom Med.* 2017;79(1):24-33. doi:10.1097/PSY.00000000000363
- 110. Marques F, Sousa JC, Sousa N, Palha JA. Blood-brain-barriers in aging and in Alzheimer's disease. *Mol Neurodegener*. 2013;8(1). doi:10.1186/1750-1326-8-38
- 111. Hurtado-Alvarado G, Domínguez-Salazar E, Pavon L, Velázquez-Moctezuma J, Gómez-González B. Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption Induced by Chronic Sleep Loss: Low-Grade Inflammation May Be the Link. *J Immunol Res.* 2016;2016. doi:10.1155/2016/4576012
- 112. Zhu B, Dong Y, Xu Z, et al. Sleep disturbance induces neuroinflammation and impairment of learning and memory. *Neurobiol Dis.* 2012;48(3):348-355. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2012.06.022
- 113. He J, Hsuchou H, He Y, Kastin AJ, Wang Y, Pan W. Sleep restriction impairs blood-brain barrier function. *J Neurosci*. 2014;34(44):14697-14706. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2111-14.2014
- Bamburg JR, Bernstein BW. Actin dynamics and cofilin-actin rods in alzheimer disease. *Cytoskeleton*. 2016;73(9):477-497. doi:10.1002/cm.21282
- 115. Shaw AE, Bamburg JR. Peptide regulation of cofilin activity in the CNS: A novel therapeutic approach for treatment of multiple neurological disorders. *Pharmacol Ther.* 2017;175:17-27. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2017.02.031
- 116. Maloney MT, Bamburg JR. Cofilin-mediated neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease and other amyloidopathies. *Mol Neurobiol.* 2007;35(1):21-43. doi:10.1007/BF02700622

- 117. Rush T, Martinez-Hernandez J, Dollmeyer M, et al. Synaptotoxicity in Alzheimer's Disease Involved a Dysregulation of Actin Cytoskeleton Dynamics through Cofilin 1 Phosphorylation. *J Neurosci.* 2018;38(48):10349-10361. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1409-18.2018
- Yulug B, Hanoglu L, Kilic E. Does sleep disturbance affect the amyloid clearance mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease? *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* 2017;71(10):673-677. doi:10.1111/pcn.12539
- 119. Iliff JJ, Wang M, Liao Y, et al. A Paravascular Pathway Facilitates CSF Flow Through the Brain Parenchyma and the Clearance of Interstitial Solutes, Including Amyloid β. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4(147). doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3003748
- 120. L PC, C MM, Catherine C, et al. Amyloid-beta transporter expression at the blood-CSF barrier is age-dependent. *Fluids Barriers CNS*. 2011;8(1):21. doi:10.1186/2045-8118-8-21
- 121. Haydon PG. Astrocytes and the modulation of sleep. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*. 2017;44:28-33. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2017.02.008
- 122. Yang C, Huang X, Huang X, et al. Aquaporin-4 and Alzheimer's Disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2016;52(2):391-402. doi:10.3233/JAD-150949
- 123. Xu Z, Xiao N, Chen Y, et al. Deletion of aquaporin-4 in APP/PS1 mice exacerbates brain Aβ accumulation and memory deficits. *Mol Neurodegener*. 2015;10(1):58. doi:10.1186/s13024-015-0056-1
- 124. Xie L, Kang H, Xu Q, et al. Sleep Drives Metabolite Clearance from the Adult Brain. *Science*. 2013;342(6156):373-377. doi:10.1126/science.1241224
- 125. Mathis CA, Lopresti BJ, Ikonomovic MD, Klunk WE. Small-molecule PET Tracers for Imaging Proteinopathies. Semin Nucl Med. 2017;47(5):553-575. doi:10.1053/j.semnuclmed.2017.06.003
- 126. Kummer MP, Hammerschmidt T, Martinez A, et al. Ear2 deletion causes early memory and learning deficits in APP/PS1 mice. *J Neurosci*. 2014;34(26):8845-8854. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4027-13.2014
- 127. Hammerschmidt T, Kummer MP, Terwel D, et al. Selective Loss of Noradrenaline Exacerbates Early Cognitive Dysfunction and Synaptic Deficits in APP/PS1 Mice. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2013;73(5):454-463. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.06.013
- Jardanhazi-Kurutz D, Kummer MP, Terwel D, et al. Induced LC degeneration in APP/PS1 transgenic mice accelerates early cerebral amyloidosis and cognitive deficits. *Neurochem Int.* 2010;57(4):375-382. doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2010.02.001
- Heneka MT, Ramanathan M, Jacobs AH, et al. Locus ceruleus degeneration promotes Alzheimer pathogenesis in amyloid precursor protein 23 transgenic mice. *J Neurosci*. 2006;26(5):1343-1354. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4236-05.2006
- 130. Pérez V, Marin C, Rubio A, Aguilar E, Barbanoj M, Kulisevsky J. Effect of the additional noradrenergic neurodegeneration to 6-OHDA-lesioned rats in levodopa-induced dyskinesias and in cognitive disturbances. *J Neural Transm.* 2009;116(10):1257-1266. doi:10.1007/s00702-009-0291-0
- 131. Palmer AM, Francis PT, Bowen DM, et al. Catecholaminergic neurones assessed ante-mortem in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res.* 1987;414(2):365-375. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(87)90018-7
- 132. Palmer AM, Wilcock GK, Esiri MM, Francis PT, Bowen DM. Monoaminergic innervation of the frontal and temporal lobes in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res.* 1987;401(2):231-238. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(87)91408-9
- 133. Raskind MA, Peskind ER. Neurobiologic bases of noncognitive behavioral problems in Alzheimer disease. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*. 1994;8(SUPPL. 3):54-60. doi:10.1097/00002093-199404000-00005
- 134. Hoogendijk WJG, Feenstra MGP, Botterblom MHA, et al. Increased activity of surviving locus ceruleus neurons in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol. 1999;45(1):82-91. doi:10.1002/1531-8249(199901)45:1<82::AID-ART14>3.0.CO;2-T
- 135. Yoshiyama Y, Higuchi M, Zhang B, et al. Synapse Loss and Microglial Activation Precede Tangles in a P301S Tauopathy Mouse Model. *Neuron*. 2007;53(3):337-351. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2007.01.010

- 136. Chalermpalanupap T, Schroeder JP, Rorabaugh JM, et al. Locus Coeruleus Ablation Exacerbates Cognitive Deficits, Neuropathology, and Lethality in P301S Tau Transgenic Mice. *J Neurosci.* 2018;38(1):74-92. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1483-17.2017
- 137. Rorabaugh JM, Chalermpalanupap T, Botz-Zapp CA, et al. Chemogenetic locus coeruleus activation restores reversal learning in a rat model of Alzheimer's disease. *Brain*. 2017;140(11):3023-3038. doi:10.1093/brain/awx232
- 138. Theofilas P, Ehrenberg AJ, Dunlop S, et al. Locus coeruleus volume and cell population changes during Alzheimer's disease progression: A stereological study in human postmortem brains with potential implication for early-stage biomarker discovery. *Alzheimers Dement*. 2017;13(3):236-246. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2016.06.2362
- 139. Iba M, McBride JD, Guo JL, Zhang B, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VMY. Tau pathology spread in PS19 tau transgenic mice following locus coeruleus (LC) injections of synthetic tau fibrils is determined by the LC's afferent and efferent connections. Acta Neuropathol (Berl). 2015;130(3):349-362. doi:10.1007/s00401-015-1458-4
- 140. Kelly SC, He B, Perez SE, Ginsberg SD, Mufson EJ, Counts SE. Locus coeruleus cellular and molecular pathology during the progression of Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol Commun. 2017;5(1):8. doi:10.1186/s40478-017-0411-2
- 141. Aston-Jones G, Bloom FE. Activity of norepinephrine-containing locus coeruleus neurons in behaving rats anticipates fluctuations in the sleep-waking cycle. *J Neurosci*. 1981;1(8):876-886. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.01-08-00876.1981
- 142. Vazey EM, Aston-Jones G. Designer receptor manipulations reveal a role of the locus coeruleus noradrenergic system in isoflurane general anesthesia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2014;111(10):3859-3864. doi:10.1073/pnas.1310025111
- 143. Herrmann N, Lanctôt KL, Khan LR. The role of norepinephrine in the behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci*. 2004;16(3):261-276. doi:10.1176/jnp.16.3.261
- 144. Szot P, White SS, Lynne Greenup J, Leverenz JB, Peskind ER, Raskind MA. Compensatory changes in the noradrenergic nervous system in the locus ceruleus and hippocampus of postmortem subjects with Alzheimer's disease and dementia with lewy bodies. J Neurosci. 2006;26(2):467-478. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4265-05.2006
- 145. Szot P, Franklin A, Miguelez C, et al. Depressive-like behavior observed with a minimal loss of locus coeruleus (LC) neurons following administration of 6-hydroxydopamine is associated with electrophysiological changes and reversed with precursors of norepinephrine. *Neuropharmacology*. 2016;101:76-86. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.09.003
- 146. Häidkind R, Eller M, Harro M, et al. Effects of partial locus coeruleus denervation and chronic mild stress on behaviour and monoamine neurochemistry in the rat. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*. 2003;13(1):19-28. doi:10.1016/S0924-977X(02)00076-7
- 147. Raven F, Van der Zee EA, Meerlo P, Havekes R. The role of sleep in regulating structural plasticity and synaptic strength: Implications for memory and cognitive function. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2018;39:3-11. doi:10.1016/j.smrv.2017.05.002
- 148. Ooms S, Overeem S, Besse K, Rikkert MO, Verbeek M, Claassen JAHR. Effect of 1 Night of Total Sleep Deprivation on Cerebrospinal Fluid β-Amyloid 42 in Healthy Middle-Aged Men: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Neurol. 2014;71(8):971-977. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.1173
- 149. Lucey BP, Hicks TJ, McLeland JS, et al. Effect of sleep on overnight cerebrospinal fluid amyloid β kinetics. Ann Neurol. 2018;83(1):197-204. doi:10.1002/ana.25117
- 150. Holth JK, Fritschi SK, Wang C, et al. The sleep-wake cycle regulates brain interstitial fluid tau in mice and CSF tau in humans. *Science*. 2019;363(6429):880-884. doi:10.1126/science.aav2546
- 151. Shokri-Kojori E, Wang GJ, Wiers CE, et al. β-Amyloid accumulation in the human brain after one night of sleep deprivation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2018;115(17):4483-4488. doi:10.1073/pnas.1721694115
- 152. DiNuzzo M, Nedergaard M. Brain energetics during the sleep-wake cycle. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*. 2017;47:65-72. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2017.09.010
- 153. Misonou H, Morishima-Kawashima M, Ihara Y. Oxidative Stress Induces Intracellular Accumulation of Amyloid β-Protein (Aβ) in Human Neuroblastoma Cells. *Biochemistry*. 2000;39(23):6951-6959. doi:10.1021/bi000169p

- 154. Matsumoto S, Tsunematsu T. Association between Sleep, Alzheimer's, and Parkinson's Disease. *Biology*. 2021;10(11):1127. doi:10.3390/biology10111127
- 155. dos Santos Moraes WA, Poyares DR, Guilleminault C, Ramos LR, Bertolucci PHF, Tufik S. The Effect of Donepezil on Sleep and REM Sleep EEG in Patients with Alzheimer Disease: A Double-Blind Placebo-Controlled Study. *Sleep*. 2006;29(2):199-205. doi:10.1093/sleep/29.2.199
- 156. Moraes W, Poyares D, Sukys-Claudino L, Guilleminault C, Tufik S. Donepezil Improves Obstructive Sleep Apnea in Alzheimer Disease: A Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Study. CHEST. 2008;133(3):677-683. doi:10.1378/chest.07-1446
- 157. Kang JE, Lim MM, Bateman RJ, et al. Amyloid-β Dynamics Are Regulated by Orexin and the Sleep-Wake Cycle. *Science*. 2009;326(5955):1005-1007. doi:10.1126/science.1180962
- 158. Cavanagh C, Tse YC, Nguyen HB, et al. Inhibiting tumor necrosis factor-α before amyloidosis prevents synaptic deficits in an Alzheimer's disease model. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2016;47:41-49. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.07.009
- 159. Clemow DB, Bushe CJ. Atomoxetine in patients with ADHD: A clinical and pharmacological review of the onset, trajectory, duration of response and implications for patients. *J Psychopharmacol (Oxf)*. 2015;29(12):1221-1230. doi:10.1177/0269881115602489
- 160. Sepede G, Corbo M, Fiori F, Martinotti G. Reboxetine in clinical practice: a review. Clin Ter. 2012;163(4):e255-262.
- 161. Fukada K, Endo T, Yokoe M, Hamasaki T, Hazama T, Sakoda S. L-threo-3,4-dihydroxyphenylserine (L-DOPS) coadministered with entacapone improves freezing of gait in Parkinson's disease. *Med Hypotheses*. 2013;80(2):209-212. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2012.11.031
- Doughty B, Morgenson D, Brooks T. Lofexidine: A Newly FDA-Approved, Nonopioid Treatment for Opioid Withdrawal. Ann Pharmacother. 2019;53(7):746-753. doi:10.1177/1060028019828954
- 163. Kalinin S, Polak PE, Lin SX, Sakharkar AJ, Pandey SC, Feinstein DL. The noradrenaline precursor L-DOPS reduces pathology in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*. 2012;33(8):1651-1663. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.04.012
- 164. Weinshenker D, Holmes PV. Regulation of neurological and neuropsychiatric phenotypes by locus coeruleus-derived galanin. Brain Res. 2016;1641:320-337. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2015.11.025
- 165. Bowrey HE, James MH, Aston-Jones G. New directions for the treatment of depression: Targeting the photic regulation of arousal and mood (PRAM) pathway. *Depress Anxiety*. 2017;34(7):588-595. doi:10.1002/da.22635
- 166. Bretherton B, Atkinson L, Murray A, Clancy J, Deuchars S, Deuchars J. Effects of transcutaneous vagus nerve stimulation in individuals aged 55 years or above: potential benefits of daily stimulation. *Aging*. 2019;11(14):4836-4857. doi:10.18632/aging.102074
- 167. Havekes R, Heckman PRA, Wams EJ, Stasiukonyte N, Meerlo P, Eisel ULM. Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis: The role of disturbed sleep in attenuated brain plasticity and neurodegenerative processes. *Cell Signal*. 2019;64:109420. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2019.109420
- 168. Gong B, Vitolo OV, Trinchese F, Liu S, Shelanski M, Arancio O. Persistent improvement in synaptic and cognitive functions in an Alzheimer mouse model after rolipram treatment. J Clin Invest. 2004;114(11):1624-1634. doi:10.1172/JCI22831
- 169. Comery TA, Martone RL, Aschmies S, et al. Acute γ-secretase inhibition improves contextual fear conditioning in the Tg2576 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurosci*. 2005;25(39):8898-8902. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2693-05.2005
- 170. Myeku N, Clelland CL, Emrani S, et al. Tau-driven 26S proteasome impairment and cognitive dysfunction can be prevented early in disease by activating cAMP-PKA signaling. *Nat Med.* 2016;22(1):46-53. doi:10.1038/nm.4011
- 171. Havekes R, Bruinenberg VM, Tudor JC, et al. Transiently increasing cAMP levels selectively in hippocampal excitatory neurons during sleep deprivation prevents memory deficits caused by sleep loss. *J Neurosci*. 2014;34(47):15715-15721. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2403-14.2014

- 172. Havekes R, Park AJ, Tudor JC, et al. Sleep deprivation causes memory deficits by negatively impacting neuronal connectivity in hippocampal area CA1. Takahashi JS, ed. *eLife*. 2016;5:e13424. doi:10.7554/eLife.13424
- 173. Havekes R, Abel T. The tired hippocampus: the molecular impact of sleep deprivation on hippocampal function. *Curr* Opin Neurobiol. 2017;44:13-19. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2017.02.005
- 174. Vecsey CG, Baillie GS, Jaganath D, et al. Sleep deprivation impairs cAMP signalling in the hippocampus. *Nature*. 2009;461(7267):1122-1125. doi:10.1038/nature08488
- 175. Fultz NE, Bonmassar G, Setsompop K, et al. Coupled electrophysiological, hemodynamic, and cerebrospinal fluid oscillations in human sleep. *Science*. 2019;366(6465):628-631. doi:10.1126/science.aax5440
- 176. Shi L, Chen SJ, Ma MY, et al. Sleep disturbances increase the risk of dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2018;40:4-16. doi:10.1016/j.smrv.2017.06.010
- 177. Mather M, Harley CW. The Locus Coeruleus: Essential for Maintaining Cognitive Function and the Aging Brain. *Trends Cogn Sci.* 2016;20(3):214-226. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2016.01.001
- 178. Carter ME, Brill J, Bonnavion P, Huguenard JR, Huerta R, De Lecea L. Mechanism for Hypocretin-mediated sleep-towake transitions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2012;109(39):E2635-E2644. doi:10.1073/pnas.1202526109

Afterword

Dedicated to all educators and researchers who cherish the flames of curiosity and scientific discovery, *And to the beauty of vast, deep as ocean, mind that always perseveres.*